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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

EASTERN DIVISION
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
v. CIVIL ACTION NO.
4:13CV001900 RWS

)

)

)

)

)

;
DANIEL K. STEELE and CHAMPION )
MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL,LLC )
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

Defendants,
JUDY D. STEELE,

Relief Defendant.

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER

EQUITABLE RELIEF AND FOR CIVIL. MONETARY PENALTIES
UNDER THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT

Plaintiff, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “Commission” or
“CFTC") alleges as follows:
I. SUMMARY

1. From at least February 28, 2011, through at least September 25, 2013 (the
“relevant period”), Daniel K. Steele (“Steele”), individually and acting as an agent for Champion
Management International, LLC (“Champion Management”) (collectively, “Defendants™),
solicited at least $1.97 million from at least 24 customers (“pool participants™) to participate in at
least three pooled investment vehicles: (1) Steele Management LLC, a.k.a. Steele Management

Int. (*SM”); (2) Champion Management, a.k.a. Champion Management Int. (“CM”); and
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(3) Oracle Forex Fund, LP (“OFF”) (collectively “the Steele Pools”), for the purpose of trading
in off-exchange agreements, contracts, or transactions in foreign currency (“forex™) on a
leveraged or margined basis. Defendants, however, have never been properly registered with the
Commission in any capacity.

2. Defendants knowingly began to issue, or caused to be issued, false account
statements to pool participants starting in approximately December 2011, showing purported
pool trading profits for the months of July 2011 through November 2011. In fact, Defendants
did not transmit any pool participant funds to any counterparty for the purpose of trading in forex
transactions until early February 2012. Defendants thus knowingly began to misrepresent the
trading results in the pool or pools before Defendants had even begun to trade any of the pool
participants’ funds in forex transactions.

3. In approximately the end of March 2012 and thereafter, Defendants further
knowingly issued, or caused to be issued, false reports, or knowingly made or caused to be made,
additional false representations to pool participants about the overall trading results in the Steele
Pools. Defendants issued month-end account statements to most, if not all, pool participants. In
these account statements, Defendants knowingly concealed the existence of unrealized, and at
times realized trading losses, and knowingly issued, or caused to be issued, false reports to the
pool participants stating that they had earned a share of *‘profits” from their participation in one
or more of the Steele Pools. The monthly percentage “profit” that Defendants falsely reported to
pool participants and prospective pool participants, or caused to be reported to pool participants
and prospective pool participants, typically varied from approximately 1% up to 5% per month.

4, In fact, except for the first month of forex trading in February 2012, the overall

month-end trading results in all of the Steele pool forex accounts was negative after factoring in

[§8)
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both the results of all closed trades for each month and the month-end negative value of all trades
held open at the end of each month.

5. During the relevant period, Defendants also failed to properly operate the Steele
Pools, as separate legal entities. Defendants also improperly commingled pool participants’
funds with personal and business-related funds by causing pool participants’ funds to be
deposited into various bank and trading accounts held in the name of his wife, Judy D. Steele,
individually and doing business as (“d/b/a”) SM and CM, as well as accounts held in the name of
OFF and Champion Management.

6. During the relevant period, Steele misappropriated most of the pool participants’
funds by depositing pool participants’ funds into his or his wife’s personal bank or trading
accounts, and then using the funds for personal and business-related expenses.

7. Steele, directly and by word of mouth, solicited pool participants located in
Missouri and other states within the United States. Steele solicited at least some pool
participants by email. Pool participants included friends, family members, and members of the
general public.

8. In addition to the fraudulent misrepresentations and omissions described above,
Defendants omitted and did not disclose to current or prospective pool participants the following
material facts, among others: (1) that Steele, while acting as a commodity pool operator
(“CPO”) of SM and CM, had unlawfully failed to register with the Commission as a CPO for
either pool; (2) that Steele, while acting as an associated person (“AP”") of Champion
Management, had unlawfully failed to register with the Commission as an AP of Champion
Management; (3) that Steele had unlawfully commingled pool participants’ funds with personal

and business-related funds; (4) that SM and CM were not properly established as separate legal



Case: 4:13-cv-01900-RWS Doc. #: 53-1 Filed: 07/16/14 Page: 4 of 43 PagelD #: 668

entities as required by Commission Regulations; (5) that Champion Management, while acting as
a CPO, had unlawfully failed to register with the Commission as such; (6) that MIG Bank
(“MIG”), the Swiss bank into which Defendants had deposited some pool participants’ funds for
the purpose of trading forex, was not a lawful counterparty; and (7) that during the relevant
period, Steele had unlawfully misappropriated a majority of pool participants’ funds.

9. Defendants’ omissions described in paragraph 8, supra, operated as a fraud or
deceit upon the pool participants.

10.  Asaresult of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Judy D. Steele received pool
participants’ funds to which she has no legitimate interest or entitlement.

11. By virtue of this conduct and the conduct further described herein, Defendants
have engaged, are engaging, or are about to engage in acts and practices in violation of
provisions of the Commodity Exchange Act (“Act”), 7 U.S.C. §§ | ef seq. (2012), and the
Commission’s Regulations (“Commission Regulations) promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R.

§§ 1.1 et seq. (2013).

12.  Since at least February 7, 2012, Steele committed the acts and/or omissions
alleged herein within the course and scope of his employment, agency, or office with Champion
Management. Champion Management is therefore liable under Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2012), and Commission Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2013),as a
principal for Steele’s violations of the Act and/or Commission Regulations.

13.  Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2012), the
Commission brings this action to enjoin Defendants’ unlawful acts and practices and to compel

their compliance with the Act, and Commission Regulations.
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14.  In addition, Plaintiffs seek civil monetary penalties for each violation of the Act
and Commission Regulations, and remedial ancillary relief, including, but not limited to, trading
and registration bans, restitution, disgorgement, rescission, pre- and post-judgment interest, and
such other relief as the Court may deem necessary and appropriate.

15. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to
engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint or in similar acts and practices, as
described more fully below.

IL. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

16.  This Court possesses jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6¢ of the
Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2012), which authorizes the Commission to bring an action in proper
district courts of the United States in order to seek injunctive and other relief against any person
whenever it shall appear to the Commission that such person has engaged, is engaging, or is
about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of the Act or any
rule, regulation, or order thereunder.

17.  The Commission possesses jurisdiction over the forex solicitations and
transactions at issue in this case pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2012), and
Section 2(c)(2)(C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C) (2012).

18.  Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 13a-1(e) (2012), because Defendants transact business in this District and certain transactions,
acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint occurred, are occurring, or are

about to occur within this District.
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I THEPARTIES

Plaintiff

19.  Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent
federal regulatory agency that is charged by Congress with the administration and enforcement
of the Act, as amended, and the Commission Regulations promulgated thereunder. The
Commission maintains its principal office at Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20581.

Defendants

20.  Defendant Daniel Keith Steele (“Steele”) resides in Rolla, Missouri, and is the
operator and authorized trader of the Steele Pools. During the relevant period, Steele has
operated the Steele Pools and various related businesses from the same address located at 305
Greentree Road, Rolla, Missouri 65401. Steele has never been registered with the Commission
in any capacity. Steele is not an associated person (“AP”) of a financial institution, registered
broker or dealer, insurance company, financial holding company, or investment bank holding
company as defined by the Act.

21.  Defendant Champion Management International, LLC (“Champion
Management”) is a Missouri Limited Liability Company organized on February 7, 2012. The
business address for Champion Management is 305 Greentree Road, Rolla, Missouri 65401.
Steele is the registered agent and managing member of Champion Management. Champion
Management has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity. Champion
Management is the purported general partner and CPO of OFF. On or about February 27, 2012,
Steele filed a notice of claim of exemption from registration as a CPO on behalf of Champion
Management pursuant to Commission Regulation 4.13(a)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 4.13(a)(2) (2013).

Champion Management is not a financial institution, registered broker or dealer, insurance

6
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company, financial holding company, or investment bank holding company or associated person

of such entities as defined by the Act.
Relief Defendant

22.  Relief Defendant Judy D. Steele is married to Steele and resides in Rolla,
Missouri. Upon information and belief, Judy D. Steele has received pool participants’ funds that
were obtained through Defendants’ unlawful conduct and to which she has no legitimate interest
or entitlement.

Other Relevant Entities

23.  Steele Management LLC, a.k.a. Steele Management Int.(“SM”), is a
“fictitious” name or d/b/a for Judy D. Steele created on October 9, 2012. During the relevant
period, Steele operated SM as a commodity pool. The business address for SM is 305 Greentree
Road, Rolla, Missouri 65401. SM has never been registered with the Commission in any
capacity. SM is not a financial institution, registered broker or dealer, insurance company,
financial holding company, or investment bank holding company or associated person of such
entities as defined by the Act.

24, Champion Management, a.k.a. Champion Management Int. (“CM”), is a
fictitious name or d/b/a for Judy D. Steele created on May 18, 2011. “Champion Management
Int.” is also a fictitious name, or d/b/a, for Judy D. Steele that was created on June 30, 2011.
During the relevant period, Steele operated CM as a commodity pool. The business address for
CM is 305 Greentree Road, Rolla, Missouri 65401. CM has never been registered with the
Commission in any capacity. On or about February 26, 2013, an exemption from registration as
a CPO pursuant to Commission Regulation 4.13(a)(2) was filed on behalf of CM. Upon

information and belief, CM has never solicited or accepted any pool participant funds or
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otherwise operated any commodity pool. CM is not a financial institution, registered broker or
dealer, insurance company, financial holding company, or investment bank holding company or
associated person of such entities as defined by the Act.

25.  Oracle Forex Fund, LP, also d/b/a Oracle Forex Fund (“OFF”), is a Delaware
Limited Partnership organized on February 7, 2012. OFF is also a fictitious name or d/b/a
created on April 24, 2012 in the state of Missouri for which OFF is listed as the owner. During
the relevant period, Steele, through Champion Management, operated OFF as a commodity pool.
The business address for OFF is 305 Greentree Road, Rolla, Missouri 65401. OFF has never
been registered with the Commission in any capacity. Champion Management is registered with
the Commission as the CPO of OFF. OFF is not a financial institution, registered broker or
dealer, insurance company, financial holding company, or investment bank holding company or
associated person of such entities as defined by the Act.

26. Champion Wealth Management, LLC (“CWM?”) is a Missouri Limited
Liability Company organized on January 21, 2013. Steele is the registered agent and principal of
CWM. CWM has been registered with the Commission as a CPO since March 14, 2013. On
March 8, 2013, Steele filed an application for registration with the Commission as an AP with
CWM. Steele’s application for registration as an AP of CWM has been pending since March 8,
2013. Upon information and belief, there is no evidence that CWM has ever solicited or
accepted funds on behalf of any commodity pool, or that CWM operated any commodity pool.

27.  SMI Income Fund is a purported commodity pool operated by SM. On
November 14, 2011, Steele filed a notice of claim of exemption from registration as a CPO on

behalf of SM pursuant to Commission Regulation 4.13(a)(1). Upon information and belief,
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however, there is no evidence that SMI Income Fund has ever accepted any pool participant
funds or otherwise operated as a commodity pool.

28.  MIG Bank (“MIG”) is a forex brokerage firm headquartered in Lausanne,
Switzerland. MIG is registered as an authorized bank and securities dealer with the Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA). During the relevant period, Defendants
transferred pool participants’ funds to accounts held in the name of Steele at MIG. MIG is not a
United States financial institution, registered broker or dealer, financial holding company, or
investment bank holding company or associated person of such entities as defined by the Act.
On or about December 9, 2013, MIG merged with Swissquote Bank SA and now operates under
the name Swissquote.

IV. FACTS

(a) Statutory and Regulatory Background

29.  On June 18, 2008, the Act was amended to incorporate new provisions pertaining
to off-exchange retail forex transactions, including Section 2(c)(2)(C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 2(c)(2)(C) (2012). Section 2(c)(2)(C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C) (2012), provides, in
relevant part, that Section 4o of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60 (2012), applies to retail forex transactions.

30. On October 18, 2010, the Commission adopted new regulations implementing
certain provisions of the Act with respect to off-exchange retail forex transactions, including but
not limited to, regulations requiring intermediaries such as CPOs and APs of CPOs to be

registered as such.

Applicability of Sections 40(1)(A) and (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(A)-(B)
(2012), to Forex CPQOs

31.  Section 2(c)(2)(C)(ii)(I) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(ii)(I) (2012), states in

relevant part that Section 40 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60 (2012), applies to agreements, contracts, or
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transactions in forex described in Section 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(i)
(2012).

32.  Commission Regulation 5.25, 17 C.F.R. § 5.25 (2013), states in relevant part that
Section 40 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60 (2012), shall apply to retail forex transactions that are
subject to the requirements of Part 5 of the Commission’s Regulations as though Section 40 of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60 (2012), was set forth therein, and included specific reference to retail
forex transactions and the persons defined in Commission Regulation 5.1, 17 C.F.R. § 5.1
(2013).

33.  Sections 40(1)(A) and (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(A)-(B) (2012), make it
unlawful for any CPO, by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate
commerce, directly or indirectly, (A) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any
participant or prospective participant, or (B) to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of

business which operates as a fraud or a deceit upon any actual or prospective pool participant.

Applicability of Section 4b(a)(2)(A)-(C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 6(b)(a)(2)(A)-
C)(2012) and Commission Regulations 5.2(b)(1)-(3) and 5.25, 17 C.F.R.

§3.2(b)(1)-(3) and 5.25 (2013) to Forex CPOs

34.  Section 2(c)(2)(C)(ii)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c))C)(ii)(I) (2012), states in
relevant part that Section 4b of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b (2012), applies to agreements, contracts, or
transactions in forex described in Section 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(i)
(2012).

35.  Section 2(c)(2)(C)(iv) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(iv) further provides that
Section 4b of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b (2012) shall apply to any agreement, contract, or transaction
in foreign currency as if the agreement, contract, or transaction were a contract of sale of a

commodity for future delivery.

10
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36.  Commission Regulation 5.2(b)(1)-(3) makes it unlawful for any person, by use of
the mails or by any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, in or in connection with
any retail forex transaction: (1) To cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud any person;
(2) Willfully to make or cause to be made to any person any false report or statement or cause to
be entered for any person any false record; or (3) Willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive any

person by any means whatsoever.

Statutory and Regulatory Requirements Regarding Registration of Forex
CPQs and APs

37.  Pursuant to Section 2(¢)(2)(C)(iii)(I) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)X1)
(2012), a person must be registered in such capacity as the Commission by rule, regulation, or
order shall determine, to operate or solicit funds for any pooled investment vehicle that is not an
eligible contract participant (“ECP”) as defined in Section 1a(18) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 1a(18) (2012), in connection with off-exchange retail forex transactions.

38.  Pursuant to Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(d)(1) (2013), a
CPO, for the purpose of forex transactions, is defined as “any person who operates or solicits
funds, securities, or property for a pooled investment vehicle that is not an [ECP] and that
engages in retail forex transactions.”

39, As of July 16, 2011, the statutory definition of a CPO set forth in Section la(11)
of the Act was amended by the Dodd-Frank Act to include CPOs operating commodity pools by
soliciting and accepting funds for the purpose of trading forex, and to conform with the
regulatory definition of a CPO set forth in Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(1), 17 C.F.R.

§ 5.1(d)(1) (2013).



Case: 4:13-cv-01900-RWS Doc. #: 53-1 Filed: 07/16/14 Page: 12 of 43 PagelD #: 676

40.  Commission Regulation 5.3(a)(2)(i), 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(i) (2013), requires any
person or entity acting as a CPO, as defined by Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(1), to be
registered as such.

41.  Defendants have never been registered with the Commission in any capacity.

42.  Section 1a(18) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(18) (2012), defines an ECP as a
commodity pool that “(I) has total assets exceeding $5,000,000; and (II) is formed and operated
by a person subject to regulation under [the] Act...[and] shall not include a commodity pool in
which any participant is not otherwise an eligible contract participant.”

43.  None of the Steele Pools qualify as an ECP because they were not formed and
operated by a person who was either registered as a CPO or who possessed a valid exemption
from being registered as such. In addition, none of the Steele Pools qualify as an ECP because
no Steele Pool ever had total assets exceeding $5,000,000.

44.  Pursuant to Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(d)(2) (2013), an
AP of a CPO is defined as any natural person associated with a CPO, as defined in Commission
Regulation 5.1(d)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(d)(1) (2013), as a partner, officer, employee, consultant or
agent who solicits funds on behalf of a CPO, or who supervises any person or persons so
engaged.

45.  Commission Regulation 5.3(a)(2)(ii), 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(2)(ii) (2013), requires
any person acting as an AP, as defined by Commission Regulation 5.1(d)(2), 17 C.F.R.

§ 5.1(d)(2) (2013), to be registered as such.
46. Since at least February 7, 2012, Steele has acted as an AP for Champion

Management while unlawfully failing to register as such.

12
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Regulations Relating to Reporting Requirements
and Prohibited Activities for CPOs

47.  Commission Regulation 4.20(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(a)(1) (2013) requires that a
CPO must operate its pool as an entity cognizable as a legal entity separate from that of the pool
operator.

48.  During the relevant period, Steele operated the SM and CM pools without
forming legally cognizable entities separate from that of the pool operator.

49.  Commission Regulation 4.20(c), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2013) provides that no CPO
may commingle the property of any pool that it operates or that it intends to operate with the
property of any other person.

50.  During the relevant period, Steele commingled the property of one or more pools
he operated or intended to operate with the property of another person.

51.  Commission Regulation 1.3(yy) (2013) defines “commodity interest” to include
any contract, agreement or transaction subject to Commission jurisdiction under Section 2(c)(2)
of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2) (2012).

52. Commission Regulation 4.22, 17 C.F.R. § 4.22 (2013), requires every CPO
registered or required to be registered under the Act to distribute periodic account statements to
all pool participants, with each such account statement reporting and separately itemizing, in
part: a) the total amount of realized net gain or loss on commodity interest positions liquidated
during the reporting period, b) the change in unrealized gain or loss on commodity interest
positions during the reporting period and c) the total amount of all management and advisory
fees, and all other expenses incurred or accrued during the reporting period. Commission
Regulation 4.22(h), 17 C.F.R. § 4.22(h) further requires that such periodic account statements

contain an oath or affirmation, made by a representative duly authorized to bind the pool

13



Case: 4:13-cv-01900-RWS Doc. #: 53-1 Filed: 07/16/14 Page: 14 of 43 PagelD #: 678

operator, that to the best of the knowledge of the individual making the oath or affirmation, the
information contained in the document is accurate and complete.

53.  During the relevant period, Defendants, while acting as CPOs, did not provide
pool participants with periodic account statements containing the information and oath or
affirmation required by Commission Regulation 4.22, 17 C.F.R. § 4.22 (2013).

Regulations Requiring Retail Foreign Exchange Dealers to be Registered

54. Commission Regulation 5.1(h)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(h)(1) (2013), defines a retail
foreign exchange dealer (“RFED”), for purposes of Part 5 of the Commission’s Regulations
relating to off-exchange retail forex transactions, as “any person that is, or that offers to be, the
counterparty to a retail forex transaction, except for a person described in sub-paragraph (aa),
(bb), (cc)(AA), or (dd) of section 2(c)(2)(B)(i)(II) of the Act.” These exceptions pertain to
certain United States financial institutions, brokers, and dealers registered under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and associated persons thereof, futures commission merchants and
affiliated persons thereof, financial holding companies, and investment bank holding companies.

55. Commission Regulation 5.3(a)(6)(i), 17 C.F.R. § 5.3(a)(6)(i) (2013), requires any
person acting as an RFED, as defined by Commission Regulation 5.1¢h)(1), 17 C.F.R.

§ 5.1(h)(1) (2013), to be registered as such.

56.  MIG has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity. MIG is not
a United States financial institution, registered broker or dealer, insurance company, financial
holding company, or investment bank holding company or associated person of such entities as
defined by the Act and accordingly does not qualify for any exception to the RFED registration

requirement.

14
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B. Defendants’ Forex Operation

57.  During the relevant period, Steele solicited approximately $1.97 million from at
least 24 pool participants located in Missouri and various other states within the United States to
deposit funds in the Steele Pools for the purposes of trading forex on a leveraged or margined
basis. Steele solicited at least some pool participants via email, and in connection with the
operation of the Steele Pools, Steele made use of the mails or any other means or instrumentality
of interstate commerce. Defendants’ forex operation occurred in two phases.

Phase [

58. During the first phase, from at least February 28, 2011, until February 1, 2012,
Steele operated SM and CM as pooled investment vehicles in that he solicited and accepted
funds from pool participants for the purported purpose of trading forex.

59. At no time during this period, however, did Steele trade any forex on behalf of
any pool participants or open any forex trading accounts in the name of SM or CM.
Furthermore, Steele has never established SM or CM as separate legal entities.

60.  During this period, pool participants deposited funds into bank accounts held in
the name of Judy D. Steele d/b/a SM and CM.

61.  During this period, instead of trading pool participants’ funds, Steele
misappropriated a portion of pool participants’ funds for his personal benefit and commingled
the pool participants’ funds with personal funds and business-related funds.

62.  During this Phase I period, Steele knowingly issued or caused to be issued false
account statements to pool participants or prospective pool participants that showed purported

forex trading profits, and he knowingly made, or caused to be made, false statements reporting

15
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profitable or successful forex trading in the Steele Pools. In fact, during this Phase 1, Defendants
had not yet begun to engage in any forex trading on behalf of the Steele Pools.
Phase I

63.  During the second phase, beginning February 2, 2012, through at least September
25, 2013, Steele and Champion Management, through Steele, operated OFF as a commodity pool
vehicle by soliciting and accepting pool participants’ funds for the purpose of trading forex.

64.  During this second phase, pool participants deposited funds into bank accounts
held in the name of OFF and Champion Management. Pool participants’ funds were
commingled with Steele’s personal funds and business-related funds.

65.  During this second phase, Steele wired approximately $1.2 million of pool
participants’ funds to accounts held in his name and/or Judy D. Steele’s name at MIG for the
purpose of trading forex.

66.  Beginning in February 2012, Steele began to deposit some of the pool
participants’ funds into an account ending in **6956 at MIG that Steele opened and maintained
in his name and that of his wife Judy D. Steele. Also beginning in February 2012, Steele began
to enter into forex transactions in account **6956, and later in two additional sub-accounts, with
MIG acting as the counterparty, or offering to be the counterparty, to such forex transactions.

67. At all relevant times, Steele, acting individually and also, from February 7, 2012
through the present, as an agent of Champion Management, controlled and directed the forex
trading in the MIG trading accounts.

68. At all relevant times, Steele had both access to, and received regular updates from
MIG Bank on the status and value, either positive or negative, on all closed and open forex

transactions in the MIG accounts controlled by Steele. Steele received this account information
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in the form of daily account statements, month-end account statements, as well as through
regular on-line access to MIG’s trading platform.

69.  Beginning in March 2012, Steele began to accrue and to maintain open forex
positions that had a negative month-end value that exceeded the positive value of any forex
positions that Steele closed out during the month.

70.  For example, in March 2012, Steele closed out certain forex transactions in
account **6956 that resulted in trading gains for those forex transactions of approximately
$145,000. At the end of the same month, however, Steele left open other forex positions in the
account that had an approximate month-end liquidating value (i.e., unrealized trading /osses) of
negative $415,000. As a result, the overall trading results in the account for the month of March
2012, factoring together both realized gains and losses and all month-end unrealized gains or
losses, was approximately negative $270,000.

71.  Steele continued to close out certain forex transactions in account **6956
between April 2012 and June 2012 in such a manner that resulted in trading gains for the closed
out transactions, while at the same time he left open other forex positions that had greater month-
end unrealized losses each successive month, resulting each month in overall negative trading
results.

72. For example, in June 2012, Steele closed out certain forex transactions in account
**6956 that resulted in trading gains for those transactions of approximately $4,400. At the
same time, however, Steele left open other forex positions in the account that had a month-end
net liquidating value (i.e. unrealized trading /osses) of approximately negative $1,430,400.00.

As aresult, the overall trading results in the account for the month of May 2012, factoring
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together both realized gains and losses and any month-end unrealized gains or losses, was
approximately negative $1,426,000.

73.  During the month of June 2012, while Steele had open unrealized forex trading
losses of over $1.4 million in the MIG account, Steele and his family went on a week-long
luxury cruise trip in Alaska. Steele used over $16,000 in misappropriated pool participant funds
to pay for this trip.

74.  InlJuly 2012, Steele closed out a large number of losing forex positions in account
**6956, such that at the end of the month, Steele incurred realized trading losses in the account
of approximately $1,380,000. During the same month, Steele left open other losing forex
positions that had a month-end net liquidating value (i.e. unrealized trading losses) of negative
$88,000. As aresult, the overall trading results in the account for that month, factoring together
both realized losses and any month-end unrealized losses, was approximately negative
$1,468,